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MEMORANDUM
THIS MEMORANDUM CONTAINS GRAND JURY INFORMATION PROTECTED
FROM DISCLOSURE BY FEDERAL RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 6(e) AND
INFORMATION PROTECTED FROM DISCLOSURE BY THE PRIVACY ACT

TO: Kenneth W. Starr
Independent Counsel

FROM; Rod J. Rosenstein
Associate Counsel

DATE: October 13, 1997
SUBJECT: Status Report on Investigation of the Acquisition of Federal Bureau of
Investigation Background Investigation Reports by the White House Office of
Personnel Security ("FBI Files" Matter)
L INTRODUCTION
A. Overview
On June 21, 1996, the Special Division of the D.C. Circuit, acting at the request of the
Attorney General, expanded the jurisdiction of the Office of the Independent Counsel ("OIC") to
include the issue of whether Anthony Marceca committed a crime "relating to requests made by
the White House between December 1993 and February 1994 to the Federal Bureau of
Investigation for background investigation reports and materials." Order of June 21, 1996. The
initial allegation, in substance, was that the White House Office of Personnel Security ("OPS")
improperly obtained from the Federal Bureau of Investigation ("FBI") copies of previous

background investigation ("BI") reports about persons who were not employed in and did not

require access to the White House at the time the White House requested their reports. The
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OIC's jurisdiction was expanded again on October 25, 1996 to include the issue of whether
Bernard Nussbaum committed a crime "relating to statements he made on June 26, 1996 before
the United States House of Representatives Committee on Government Reform and Oversight."
Order of Oct. 25, 1996.!

We adopted safeguards throughout this investigation to protect the privacy of persons

whose background reports we reviewed, and we disclose information herein only insofar as it is

-important to a complete report of the activities of OPS and the information to which OPS had

access. We include the names of the persons whose files contained information of investigative
interest because it may be relevant to know their identities in order to evaluate the significance of
the evidence that Marceca obtained and reviewed their background investigation reports.2
B. How the Matter Arose

The investigation known as the "FBI Files" matter began with a June 5, 1996
announcement by Congressman William Clinger, Chairman of the Committee on Government
Reform and Oversight of the House of Representatives. See, e.g., "White House Obtained FBI

Data on Fired Travel Chief," Wash. Post, June 6, 1996, at A-4. Chairman Clinger had

' This investigation was conducted with the assistance of many OIC employees. Among
those who committed substantial time and effort to this project were Associate Counsel Steven
M. Colloton, Stephen Kubiatowski and Craig S. Lerner, and IRS-CID agents J. Donald Fort,
Ronald Poplos, Kenneth L. Buck and Albert Burns.

2 If this memorandum is publicly released for any reason, we anticipate that the names of

any persons about whom substantive information is disclosed will be redacted so that the privacy
of persons whose files were obtained improperly by the White House will not be infringed
unnecessarily.

It should be noted that if Marceca were prosecuted for his handling of particular BI
reports, it might be necessary to disclose the contents of those Bls in his criminal trial.

2
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discovered that the White House had made a written request to the FBI on December 20, 1993
for previously-completed background investigation reports about Billy Ray Dale. The request
was made by means of a form carrying the name of then-White House Counsel Bernard
Nussbaum. The form listed "ACCESS (S)" as the reason for the request. The date of the request
was seven months after Dale was fired, amid much publicity, from his position as Director of the
White House Travel and Telegraph Office ("Travel Office").

The day after Chairman Clinger announced his discovery, th ite House gave the FBI

three boxes that had been archived by OPS and held in the custody of the White House Records

MmMe boxes contained a total of 333 files with typewritten names of
persons who had not worked in the White House during the Clinton Administration, and certain
other documents. (AL-DC-11415 - 11422) A few of the files carried the names of prominent
Reagan and Bush White House staffers -- including James A. Baker III, former Reagan Secretary
of State and Bush Chief of Staff; Anthony Blankley, press secretary to House Speaker Newt
Gingrich; Marlin Fitzwater, former Bush press spokesman; and Kenneth M. Duberstein, former
Reagan Chief of Staff. Most carried the names of lower-ranking persons not known to the
general public. Most of the files contained copies of FBI summary background iﬁvestigation
reports that had been prepared to allow previous White House Counsels to review the suitability
of White House passholders, along with cover transmittal letters. In some cases, FBI interview
report forms (known as forms "FD-302") were attached to the previous reports. The files also
contained copies of the request forms from OPS to the FBI. Some files -- including Fitzwater's --
contained no FBI reports. (FBI Bates No. B-1060 - 1062)

White House spokespersons stated that the reports had been requested by the White

3
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House Office of Personnel Security (OPS) because the Secret Serﬁce had provided an outdated
list of White House passholders that the OPS had used to request background reports for persons
whom OPS assumed had remained on staff from the Bush administration as “holdover”
employees. The White House characterized the incident as a "bureaucratic blunder.” E.g.,
"White House Admits Having Background Files," Wash. Post, June 8, 1996, at A-1. Among
those quoted in the early press reports was Anthony Marceca, a civilian investigator with the
Army Criminal Investigative Division who had been detailed to OPS from August 1993 until
February 1994. Marceca reportedly acknowledged that he had ordered files from the FBI, read
them, and notified D. Craig Livingstone, the Director of OPS, if the files contained "derogatory
information." Id. Many members of the Congress and the public expressed skepticism about the
explanation that the reports had been ordered as the result of a bureaucratic blunder.

FBI Director Louis J. Freeh ordered FBI General Counsel Howard Shapiro to conduct an
expeditious investigation into the matter. During Shapiro's brief investigation, which concluded
on June 14, 1996, the White House gave the FBI 71 additional OPS files, including files in the
names of former Travel Office employees John Dreylinger and Barnaby Brasseux. Shapiro's
report, which focused on the actions of the FBI, determined that the FBI had respénded routinely
to unsigned form memoranda requesting copies of previous background investigation ("BI")
reports. Shapiro's final report identified a total of 408 requests for the Bls of persons who did not
actually need access, and concluded that the status of 17 other requests was unresolved. See
Report of the FBI General Counsel on the Dissemination of FBI File Information to the White
House, June 14, 1996, at 25-26 [hereinafter “Shapiro Report”]. Shapiro found that the FBI
routinely had processed White House forms requesting previous reports for decades, at least

4
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since the Johnson Administration. /d. at 1. Although the research analysts processing the
requests had noticed an increase in the volume of requests in late 1993, no one had questioned
the propriety of the requests. /d. at 27-28. Shapiro concluded that FBI management had failed
properly to supervise the dissemination of information from FBI files. /d. at 2.

Meanwhile, the OIC initiated an inquiry into the FBI files matter as part of its

investigation into the circumstances surrounding the firing of Dale and the other Travel Office

employees. Anthony Marceca and appeared before the

grand jury on June 11./

Subsequently, the OIC determined that the allegation that the White House had obtained
previous background reports from the FBI without legitimate justification did not relate to its
existing mandate, and advised the Attorney General that the OIC would not conduct any further
investigation into the matter. The Attorney General then decided to expand the OIC's
investigation to include the matter. On Friday, June 21, the Special Division of the D.C. Circuit,
at the Attorney General's request, expanded the Independent Counsel's jurisdiction, inter alia, as
follows:

The Independent Counsel shall have jurisdiction and authority to
investigate to the maximum extent authorized by the Independent Counsel
Reauthorization Act of 1994 whether Anthony Marceca committed a
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 or any other federal criminal law, other than

a Class B or C misdemeanor or infraction, relating to requests made by the

5




O

()

White House between December 1993 and February 1994 to the Federal
Bureau of Investigation for background investigation reports and
materials.

Order of June 21, 1996.

Both Houses of the Congress conducted interviews, depositions and hearings during the
summer and fall of 1996.> One of the mysteries upon which the Congress focused attention at
the early stages was the question of who had hired Craig Livingstone to be the Director of OPS.
Livingstone announced his resignation at a hearing of the House Committee on Government
Reform and Oversight (“HCGRO”) on June 26, 1996.

Also at the June 26 HCGRO hearing, former White House Counsel Bernard Nussbaum
testified that he did not know who had brought Livingstone to the White House and that he had
never talked with Mrs. Clinton about Livingstone. Transcript of Hearing, Comm. on Govt.
Reform and Oversight, U.S. House of Representatives, 6/26/96, at 57, 282 [hereinafter “HCGRO
Hearing”]. On July 18, Chairman Clinger reviewed the FBI Headquarters' file relating to
Livingstone's background investigation and discovered an FBI "insert" (an unsigned
memorandum) dated March, 1993. The insert stated, inter alia, that Nussbaum told an FBI agent
that Mrs. Clinton had recommended Livingstone to him and that Mrs. Clinton had known
Livingstone's mother for a "longer period of time." (AO-DC-4287) On October 25, at the

request of the Attorney General, the Special Division expanded the Independent Counsel's

>  The House Committee majority issued an interim report on September 28, 1996, in which
it noted that it had "yet to determine whether colossal incompetence or a sinister motive
precipitated these events." "Investigation into the White House and Department of Justice on
Security of FBI Background Investigation Files: Interim Report,” Comm. on Govt. Reform &
Oversight, H. Rep. No. 104-862, 104th Cong, 2d Sess. 3 (Sep. 28,1996) [hereinafter “HCGRO
Report”].
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authority to include "whether Bernard Nussbaum committed a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1621 or
any other federal criminal law, other than a Class B or C misdemeanor or infraction, relating to
statements he made on June 26, 1996 before the United States House of Representatives
Committee on Government Reform and Oversight." Order of October 25, 1996.

Another central issue for the Congress and the news media was the existence of the
alleged Secret Service lists that Marceca claimed he had used. Representatives of the Secret
Service reviewed the names of former White House employees whose reports, according to the
Shapiro report, were requested by the White House. The Secret Service determined that most of
the persons were listed as "inactive" in its computer system on or before January 20, 1993.* The
Secret Service then announced that its computer system was not capable of producing an
"outdated" list or a list that would wrongly show inactive former employees as active
passholders. HCGRO Hearing, 6/26/96, at 65 (statement of Congressman Burton); SJC Hearing,
6/20/96, at 174 (Miller); Undercoffer HCGRO Dep., 7/10/96, at 10, 18; SJC Hearing, 6/28/96, at
290, 296-97 (Libonati); HCGRO Hearing, 7/17/96, at 48 (Libonati). A Secret Service audit
report concluded, "There were no widespread flaws or system breakdowns which resulted in the

WAVES system producing grossly inaccurate or outdated access lists."* (720-DC-63) More

4 A person's status is changed to "inactive" in the Secret Service WAVES computer system

when the person no longer may enter the complex by waving the pass in front of the electronic
detector at the White House or EOB gates. (720-DC-58)

> The Secret Service uses WAVES (“Workers Access and Visitor Entrance System”)
primarily to keep track of non-passholders who are permitted to access the White House. The
electronic gates at the White House are controlled by the E-PASS computer system, which is
regarded as the critical system for controlling passholder access. Changes in a person’s pass
status are entered into E-PASS and automatically passed to WAVES by the computer.

7
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significantly, the audit report asserted, "There were three types of WAVES printouts: those
listing inactive passholders; those listing active passholders; and those listing passholders whose
status changed from active to inactive in a given month." (720-DC-60) Secret Service agents
testified that a Secret Service list either would (1) state "Active" or "Inactive” or "A" or "I"
beside each name, or (2) indicate in the heading if the list contained only active or only inactive
passholders. HCGRO Hearing, 7/17/96, at 217-19 (Libonati); id. at 297 (Libonati and
Undercoffer).®

Some legislators and commentators interpreted the Secret Service statements to mean that
OPS could not have used a Secret Service list in the manner Marceca had described to order

reports of persons who were not active passholders.” This inference, albeit reasonable, was

The most direct testimony was as follows:

Mr. Flanagan. Even if Mr. Marceca had a list from you generated when
Polk was President, it's going to say these folks are active
or these people are inactive, period?

Mr. Undercoffer. That's correct.
Mr. Libonati. That's correct.

HCGRO Hearing, 7/17/96, at 297.

7 Although the testimony given by Secret Service employees in 1996 proved to be
incorrect, it did not fall directly within our mandate and we had no evidence that it was willfully
false. We therefore approved the Treasury Department Inspector General's request for our
authorization to conduct an internal administrative investigation of the preparation of the Secret
Service's testimony. Letter from John D. Bates to Valerie Lau, Sept. 27, 1996.

By letter dated April 16, 1997, the Treasury OIG notified us that it had closed the
investigation because it was "unable to conduct a credible and independent investigation" as a
result of the Secret Service's insistence that the OIG obtain access to Secret Service personnel

(continued...)
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~wrong. Marceca did use a Secret Service list that failed to distinguish between present and

former passholders.
C. SUMMARY OF INVESTIGATIVE FINDINGS
1. The Office of Personnel Security

a.  Background Reports of Former White Ho

We have determined that the Secret ice did produce misleadi
included the names of former White House staffers, and that Anthony Marceca used the lists to

—_‘-——-——"——\

request previous BI reports from the FBI. Marceca was conducting a project that had been
f )

described to him by Nancy Gemmell, an outgoing OPS employee, as the "Update Project." This
project required OPS to create a file for each holdover employee and order copies of previous BI
reports from the FBI to put in each file. The primary objective was to ensure that each employee
had been the subject of a BI within the preceding five years. Livingstone also wanted his office
to review each holdover employee's previous BI reports, to ensure that the employee was suitable
for employment and so that Livingstone would be aware of any potential security problems.
Livingstone OIC-302, 9/13/96, at 11. If a passholder’s last BI was completed more than five
years ago, OPS would arrange for the passholder to complete a new SF-86 ("Queétionnaire for
National Security Positions") and then ask the FBI to perform an updated BI.

The Secret Service reports that Marceca used were misleading because although Gemmell

had requested and believed that she had received alphabetical lists of active passholders, the lists

’(...continued)
and records only through the Secret Service's Office of Inspection. The OIG notified us that it
considered this to constitute "an unreasonable denial of access by the USSS" and planned to
report the matter to the Congress. Letter from Valerie Lau to John D. Bates, April 16, 1997.

9
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actually included both active and inactive passholders, with nothing to distinguish between the
two groups. That was not consistent with Secret Service practice, because other reports produced
by the Secret Service either included only active personnel or contained a column indicating
whether each person was active or inactive.

Misleading printouts using the same format were produced for at least thirteen different
groups of White House employees, including "White House Operations Personnel," the group of
persons upon whom the initial publicity focused.® The Secrét Service printed the lists on June
10, 1993 at the request of Nancy Gemmell, who retired on August 13, 1993. Gemmell OIC-302,
7/29/96, at 1. Each list was restricted to persons with a particular "employer designation” in the
Secret Service WAVES computer system, and a separate report was run for each employer
designation. The employer designation represents the federal agency (such as GSA), White
House office (such as NSC), or contractor (such as AT&T) with which the person is associated.
Many White House staffers are given the employer designation White House Operations
Personnel, sometimes abbreviated as "WHOP".

The Secret Service lists the sense that the Secret Service
employee who produced them created a new computer program to run them, usiné an existing
program as a template and modifying it to select the criteria for which records to include in each
report. Gemmell assumed that each list included only active passholders who were connected

with the agency in the caption of each list. In that sense, the lists were grossly overinclusive,

®  The Travel Office employees were classified by the Secret Service as White House

Operations Personnel.

10
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because they did not restrict pass status to active.’

OPS began the Update Project in/late July 1993, aid the previous reports for most groups
of White House employees actually were ordered before Marceca arrived at OPS. The largest
lists were left for Marceca -- White House Operations Personnel, National Security Council and
most of General Services Administration. Although Gemmell used the Secret Service lists to
obtain personal information about the employees that was required to order their previous reports
from the FBI, she evidently did not rely exclusively upon the Secret Service reports, because
there are former White House employees on the lists for whom Gemmell did not order previous
BI reports.

When Marceca took over the project, he used the misleading lists to order previous
reports for the persons who, according to the lists, held permanent passes -- and some who held
temporary passes. Although the bulk of improper requests related to persons classified as
“WHOP;’-- the group of which Marceca ordered from letters Aa to Go -- he made similar
improper requests for National Security Council ("NSC") and General Services Administration
("GSA") employees before he began with the WHOP group.

Documentary evidence demonstrates that Marceca sought advice from the agencies about

?  The lists also were underinclusive, because they did not include persons who worked for

the same employer but whose "employer designation" entry in the WAVES computer database
was not identical to the criterion used to run the report. For example, the report captioned
"Exclusive Employer Directory for White House Operations Personnel" included persons for
whom the employer field in the computer database held the acronym "WHOP," but not those for
whom the field contained the words, "White House Operations Personnel." There are many such
inconsistencies in the Secret Service WAVES computer system, as a result of which reports
sorted by employer designation do not include all employees who should be associated with that
employer designation. Stanley OIC-302, 10/4/96, at 7.

11
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whether particular persons were still working at the White House only affer OPS had acquired
their previous reports from the FBL.!® Under Livingstone's signature, Marceca sent memoranda
listing names of employees -- including private telephone company employees and General
Services Administration workers -- to supervisory personnel. The memoranda listed only
employees for whom Bls had not been conducted within the last five years. The memoranda
requested that the recipient advise OPS whether or not the persons listed were still employed, and
stated that each employee who remained would be required to submit a new SF-86. The new SF-
86 would enable OPS to ask the FBI to perform an updated background investigation.

We have not found the critical portion of the Secret Service printout for White House
Operations Personnel -- the portion containing the names between the letters Aarhus and
Goldberg. However, we did recover an unused portion of that list, for names from Po through Z,
and we recovered complete lists for other employer designations. The Secret Service computer
system cannot produce a report as of a date in the past because the information in the computer
system changes daily. Through extensive analysis of data from the Secret Service WAVES and

E-Pass computer systems, however, we reconstructed, with a high degree of confidence, the Aa-

der reports on previous White House s

that analysis, we concluded that the misleading Secret Service lists were used to make the

improper requests to the FBI for previous Bl reports of former White House passholders.

In sum, Marceca’s approach to the Update Project was as follows:

' For some persons, the lists were missing biographical information needed to make

requests. In some cases, Marceca contacted the employing office to request the information and
learned that the person had departed.

12



(1)  Request previous Bls for all permanent passholders'! on
C ' each Secret Service list,'> without verifying whether or not
' those persons still required access to the White House.

2) Review each BI to determine whether it is more than five years
old, and make note of any derogatory personal or political
information in the BI.
3) Write a memorandum to the organization to which each Secret
Service list pertains to inquire whether persons with BIs more than
five years old are still working at the White House.
(4)  Ifaperson with a BI more than five years old is still employed,
have the person complete a new SF-86 and submit it to the FBI to
conduct an updated background investigation.
Step (1) -- requesting reports of every permanent passholder on a six-month old list without first
verifying that each person still needed to access the White House -- in retrospect seems dubious.

The evidence, nonetheless, discloses that Marceca did precisely that. Furthermore, although a

reasonable person who had completed step (3) for NSC and GSA might have reflected on the

@

large number of persons on the Secret Service lists who were no longer at the White House and
concluded that there was a fundamental problem with the lists, there is no evidence that it ever

occurred tg

ca to question the understanding of the lists that had been imparted to him by

Having determined that the initial explanation offered by Marceca and Livingstone

proven credible by the existence of misleading Secret Service lists, we turned our attentio

11

In some cases, Marceca also requested temporary passholders -- perhaps mistakenly.

12 Marceca was unable to request reports for some persons because the Secret Service lists

lacked one or more of the requisite items of information, e.g., date of birth, place of birth, or
Social Security number.
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four central questions:

(D

@)

3)

Did Marceca, Livingstone, or anyone else realize at the time that OPS requested
the reports, in 1993 and 1994, that the persons whose reports were ordered were
no longer employed at the White House, or that some were Republican political
appointees who no longer required access to the White House?

A:

Marceca knew in late 1993 or early 1994 that by using the Secret Service
lists that Gemmell had given him, he was obtaining reports for persons
who were no longer employed at the White House. There is some
evidence that the permanent OPS employees -- Livingstone, Wetzl and
Mari Anderson -- may have been aware that Marceca was obtaining
unneeded reports and perhaps even that he was using an outdated list --
outdated in the sense that it had been printed earlier in the Clinton
Administration. There is no evidence, however, that any of the OPS
employees had contemporaneous knowledge that many of the reports
Marceca was receiving were for political appointees from the Reagan and
Bush administrations.'®

Did anyone ever read the FBI reports concerning persons who were not White
House employees?

A:

Marceca read FBI previous reports for persons who were no longer at the
White House, and attached post-it notes to some of the reports identifying
derogatory information and Republican connections. The evidence
suggests that Marceca was under the mistaken impression that the persons
whose reports he read, including those with Republican connections, were
still White House employees. Livingstone also may have read some of the
improperly-requested reports. However, there is no evidence that
Livingstone read the report of any high-profile former White House staff
member.

Was information from improperly-obtained reports used for any improper
purpose, or disseminated beyond OPS?

A:

We have not found any evidence that any information from the reports was

13

If OPS had intentionally obtained reports for political appointees of previous Republican
administrations, possible motives would be (a) to use the information in the reports for political
advantage, or (b) to compare the derogatory information in the reports, such as previous drug
use, to reports about Clinton Administration personnel.
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During the 1993 background investigation1

used for any unlawful purpose or disseminated beyond OPS."

Did anyone associated with OPS give false testimony when the allegations came
to light in 1996?

ome of the m that Marceca gave in 1996 about his sta

knowledge and his procedure for handling previous reports in 1993 an

1994 was incomplete and misleading. There is no direct evidence that
arceca gave willfully false testimony.? There is circumstantial

evidence, however, from which an inference of willfulness might be

drawn.

b. Other Marceca Issues

Our investigation uncovered other information relating to Marceca that may be relevant

to our evaluation of the evidence against him.

1) Possible False Statements to the FBI During Marceca's BI

The FBI conducted a background investigation of Marceca in 1993. The investigation

was authorized by Livingstone as part of Marceca's ambitious effort to obtain a political

appointment with an Inspector General or U.S. Marshal or to extend his White House duty.

FOIA(b)(6)
FOIA(b)(7) - (C)

[FOIA(b)(3) - Fed. R. Crim. Pro. 6(e) - Grand Jury|

|

If Marceca is not prosecuted, he should be granted immunity and questioned in great
detail (with reference to the documentary evidence) about what he did at OPS, the statements

that he made afier the matter came to light, and whether anyone suggested to him how he should
respond to questions about what he did with the files.
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FOIA(b)(6)
FOIA(b)(7) - (C)

(2)  Civil Deposition Testimony About Marceca Reading his File
In November 1994, Marceca filed a federal civil lawsuit for defamation against two
women who had provided adverse information about him to the FBI during his 1993 background
investigation. The complaint sets forth little detail about their comments. Ina civﬂ deposition in

Texas on February 20, 1995, Marceca testified that he had read a few pages of his own

. . . / /
background investigation on September 11, 1994, and that he had based the lawsuit on what he

—

had read. Marceca testified that while he was visiting Livingstone at OPS, Livingstone turned

around to take a phone call. Marceca then reached for a newspaper, and the BI report just

'8 Marceca filed a defamation suit against the complainant in 1994, suggesting that he was
willing to take on the burden of proving the charges false.
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happened to fall off of Livingstone's desk. Marceca subsequently tried to obtain access to his
background report from the FBI and the White House through a FOIA claim, and later a
subpoena, but he was unsuccessful. In his deposition, Marceca claimed to recall little about the
substance of the women's comments, and some of what he did recall is not accurate.
Livingstone acknowledges that he talked with Marceca about the problems turned up in
Marceca's BI, as Livingstone says he did with any employee whose investigation turned up
derogatory information. However, Livingstone has no recollection of Marceca reading his
report; Livingstone was out of town on the date Marceca claimed the incident occurred; and it is
highly unlikely that Marceca's BI report ever would have been sitting on Livingstone's desk in

the manner that Marceca described. Hence, Marceca's testimony in the Texas deposition about

how he came to read his own report-is-probably false

It was generally understood that White House employees were not permitted to read their

Ivacy Act contains a provision making it a crime for a person

wn background reports.
who, by virtue of employment or official position, has access to Privacy-Act protected records
and willfully discloses them to a person not entitled to receive them. 5 U.S.C. § 552a(i)(1). We
found no reported case under this provision, and we have no evidence that Livingétone
improperly disclosed the report to Marceca.!’

2. Perjury Allegation Against Nussbaum

We have found no evidence, other than the FBI insert, to support the allegation that

Nussbaum gave false testimony about the hiring of Craig Livingstone. Nussbaum testified on

"7 If Marceca is granted immunity, he should be questioned in detail about how he came to

learn about the derogatory information in his own BI.
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June 26, 1996 that he had never discussed Livingstone with Mrs. Clinton. In a voluntary
interview, Nussbaum told the OIC that he does not know who brought Livingstone to the White
House and does not know of any 'relationship between Livingstone and Mrs. Clinton. The March
1993 FBI insert, however, contains one sentence stating that Nussbaum said that Mrs. Clinton
had a personal relationship with Mrs. Livingstone and that Mrs. Clinton had recommended Craig
Livingstone for his position in the White House.

We have found no evidence that Livingstone's mother actually had a personal relationship
with Hillary Rodham Clinton. Of course, the accuracy of the sentence in the FBI insert is not
dispositive of whether Nussbaum said it. Moreover, even if the FBI agent had erred in part or all
of the sentence in the insert, it would not as a matter of law preclude us from proving that
Nussbaum actually did speak to Mrs. Clinton about hiring Livingstone. But there is no evidence,
apart from the insert, that Nussbaum talked with Mrs. Clinton about hiring Livingstone.'®

The insert purports to reflect, in separate paragraphs, the comments of five persons
interviewed over a three-day period, from March 1 through March 3, 1993. Such inserts are
prepared as a routine part of background investigations, in which many persons who know the
subject of the investigation are asked how long they have known him and whethef they know
anything that would reflect adversely on his character. The inserts, FBI 302 interview reports,
and other relevant documents are forwarded to FBI Headquarters, where an FBI analyst collects

and reviews all information generated during the background investigation. Reneghan OIC-302,

18

We have not yet questioned Mrs. Clinton about whether she had any relafi in with
Livingstone or his family, whether she had any role in the decision to hire Livingstone, an
whether she ever talked to Nussbaum about Livingstone. Mrs. Clinton should be asked about
these issues.
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11/7/96, at 2; Wambach OIC-302, 11/5/96, at 1, Woods OIC-302, 3/26/97, at 1-2. If no adverse
information is disclosed, the summary BI report that the FBI produces for the White House
generally reports the total number of persons who were interviewed and states that all provided
favorable comments and none disclosed any adverse information.

The former FBI agent whose typewritten initials appear on the insert, M. Dennis
Sculimbrene, maintains that he always strived to write accurate reports. But Sculimbrene
acknowledges that the procedure he followed in preparing inserts was highly informal. He often
would contact a person by telephone, take no notes, and then type an insert summarizing the
person’s comments. Sculimbrene faced an unprecedented amount of work during the relevant
time period, and he has no recollection of ever talking to Nussbaum about Livingstone.
Sculimbrene therefore is unable to testify from personal recollection that Nussbaum said
anything inconsistent with Nussbaum's testimony. !’

Accordingly, because there is no evidence that Mrs. Clinton played any role in the

decision to hire Livingstone and there is no witness to attest that Nussbaum said that she did,

there is no substantial and credible evidence that Nussbaum's testimony was false. L
The question of precisely who “hired” Craig Livingstone amidst the chaos of the

beginning of the new administration is not definitively resolved. It appears that Livingstone’s

' Sculimbrene, who suffered brain damage in an accident in 1994, told the OIC that he is
"pretty sure" that Livingstone told him that Livingstone's mother had a relationship with Hillary
Clinton. Sculimbrene OIC-302, 9/4/96, at 2. That information does not appear in the FBI 302
that Sculimbrene prepared of his interview of Livingstone. Sculimbrene also told us that he may
have assumed that the First Lady had a role in Livingstone's hiring because the First Lady in a
previous Administration once insisted on hiring someone Sculimbrene believed was
inappropriate for a particular job. Id at 3.
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first discussion with a White House Counsel attorney about the job was with Associate Counsel
Cheryl Mills, probably during the first week of February 1993. After talking with Mills,
Livingstone apparently went to OPS and began to make preparations to take over the office.
Livingstone subsequently met with Associate Counsel William Kennedy, who was assigned to
supervise OPS by Deputy White House Counsel Vincent Foster. Livingstone thought that
Kennedy would be the decisionmaker, and Kennedy understood that Livingstone already had
been designated for the job. Kennedy had to review Livingstone’s BI, however, before making a
permanent appointment. Furthermore, Kennedy understood that Livingstone really wanted to
work in the Military Office. Foster contacted one of Livingstone’s references at some point and

probably ratified the decision to hire him.
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I1. KEY PLAYERS
A. White House Counsel's Office

1. Bernard Nussbaum

Bernard Nussbaum served as White House Counsel from January 20, 1993 through
March 5, 1994. OPS reported to the Office of the White House Counsel. Nussbaum, however,
had very little interaction with OPS. Nussbaum delegated the supervision of OPS to Deputy
White House Counsel Vincent W. Foster, Jr., who in turn assigned that authority to Associate
White House Counsel William Kennedy. Cons_istent with longstanding practice, the name of the
White House Counsel appeared on all OPS forms sent to the FBI requesting information about
the backgrounds of White House passholders.

2. William Kennedy

William Kennedy was Associate White House Counsel from February 10, 1993 through
November 30, 1994. One of Kennedy's responsibilities was to oversee the operations of OPS and
review background reports on Presidential appointees. Kennedy reviewed Craig Livingstone's
background investigation and approved his appointment. Kennedy also reviewed suitability
issues relating to non-Presidential appointees who had access to the White House. At
Livingstone's request, Kennedy formally asked the Department of Defense to detail Anthony
Marceca to OPS.

Kennedy was involved in a number of controversies before he left Washington. In May
1995, he sent his associates a personally-addressed form letter announcing his return to the Rose
Law Firm. On the copy that Kennedy sent to Livingstone -- who also had been a subject of

scrutiny by the news media, the Congress and the OIC -- Kennedy handwrote:
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Craig --
Fuck 'em. Fuck 'em all.
Keep in touch. All best
wishes.
Bill K.
(OPS-46)
3. Cheryl Mills
Cheryl Mills became Associate White House Counsel in January 1993, and was promoted
to Deputy Counsel in January 1997. According to Mills, she and Vincent Foster interviewed
Livingstone for a position in OPS. Mills OIC-302, 11/12/96, at 2. Mills oversaw the operations
of OPS until Kennedy was hired in February 1993. Id. at 3.
4. Vincent W, Foster, Jr.
Vincent Foster was Deputy White House Counsel from January 1993 until his death on
July 20, 1993. Associate White House Counsel William Kennedy consulted Foster about serious
suitability issues raised in FBI background investigations.
5. Christopher Cerf
Christopher Cerf was detailed to the White House Counsel's Office from the Office of
Administration's General Counsel Office in May 1994 to assist Associate White House Counsel
Beth Nolan. Nolan had assumed Kennedy's duties following his resignation. Cerf gradually. took
over full responsibility for supervising OPS during his detail. In December 1994, Cerf became
an Associate White House Counsel and continued his duties as supervisor of OPS. In Cerfs

capacity as supervisor of OPS, he dealt with Craig Livingstone on a regular basis. Cerf was

aware that Livingstone was an unpopular braggart, but Cerf supported Livingstone when other
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White House employees considered terminating him in 1995.2° Cerf OIC-302, 9/25/96 at 2. Cerf
was also aware that Livingstone was dissatisfied with his compensation and that he repeatedly
threatened to resign. Id. at 3.
B. OPS

1. Craig Livingstone

David Craig Livingstone was Director of OPS from February 1993 through June 26,
1996.%' Livingstone héd served as Director of Security for the Presidential Inaugural Committee
("PIC"), and long had been active in Democratic political campaigns. Livingstone was well
known for his work as an "advance man," which involved planning campaign events and
arranging audiences. Reames OIC-302, 9/19/96 at 2; Varney OIC-302, 11/14/96, at 1.2

Prior to the Clinton campaign, Livingstone held a number of jobs, including doorman for

various D.C. bars and restaurants; Operations Director for Hands-Across-America; Press Officer

0" Cerf attended a meeting in early 1995 with Harold Ickes, Jane Sherburne and a fourth
person from the Office of Management and Budget (whose name Cerf could not recall) at which
someone recommended terminating Livingstone because of "vague" allegations. Cerf OIC-302,
9/25/96, at 2. Cerf told the OIC that he supported Livingstone because the allegations were not
specific and because he believed Livingstone was loyal and was doing a competent job. Id.

Cerf also attended a short meeting in late 1995 with Beth Nolan and a senior Secret
Service agent, at which the agent reported an allegation that Livingstone had talked to someone
at a party about physical security at the White House. Cerf discussed the incident with
Livingstone. Cerf OIC-302, 9/25/96, at 3.

' Prior to the Clinton Administration, the head of the office was referred to officially as
"Assistant to the Counsel to the President (Security)." Livingstone changed the title to "Director
of White House Personnel Security." (OPS-60) :

 One of Livingstone's friends who also did campaign advance work described Livingstone
as having the reputation as one of the best advance-men in the Democratic party. Jones OIC-
302, 9/10/96, at 7; see also Bachar OIC-302, 9/10/96, notes (describing Livingstone as "good" at
advance work).
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for Farm Aid; Executive Assistant for Senator Timothy Wirth; City Coordinator for the U.S.-
Soviet Public Summit; Publicist for Universal Pictures; and Public Relations Account Executive
for Trahan, Burden & Charles, an advertising agency. (705-DC-00001774); Livingstone SIC
Int., 6/19/96, at 3-4. Immediately before the Clinton campaign, he had been working for
approximately one year for Charlene Drew Jarvis, a Washington, D.C. councilwoman, in a
community relations capacity. Livingstone SJC Int., 6/19/96, at 4.

Livingstone first became active in politics in 1984, when he worked as an advance man
for the Gary Hart presidential campaign and the Mondale/Ferraro presidential campaign. (705-
DC-1776); Livingstone SJC Int., 6/19/96, at 3. In the following eight years, Livingstone
continued to do periodic advance work for Democratic political campaigns and other Democratic
initiatives, most notably the 1988 Al Gore presidential campaign during which -- according to his
resume -- he "traveled daily with the Senator and coordinated activities with the U.S. Secret
Service." (705-DC-1775) During the 1988 Democratic National Convention, he was responsible
for coordinating DNC Chairman Paul Kirk's operations and meetings in Atlanta, Georgia. Id.

According to his resume, Livingstone worked as the "Senior Consultant to Counter-Event
Operations" for the 1992 Clinton/Gore campaign from October 1991 through November 1992.2
(705-DC-1774) Shortly after the election, Livingstone coptacted Nancy Jacobson, a PIC
financial officer, and told her that he would be interested in a position with PIC. Livingstone
OIC-302, 9/16/96, at 1. Jacobson told him about the position of Director of Security Operations

for PIC, which he understood was the most senior unfilled inaugural position. /d. As Director of

#  In his resume, Livingstone states that he was responsible for "successfully deploying
several of the infamous "Pinnochio' and "Chicken George' media events.” (705-DC-1774)
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